IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 06-539

MILFORD WADE BYRD,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Special Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar No. 0754773 141 N.E. 30th Street Wilton Manors, FL 33334 (305) 984-8344

NEAL DUPREE CCRC-South 101 NE 3rd Ave., Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION

This case presents a classic example of the dangers to the reliability of an adversarial testing when the State buys testimony by providing a witness, in this case a codefendant, a deal in order secure a criminal conviction. In this instance, the deal was particularly sweet. Ronald Sullivan, one of three people the State alleged to have participated in the murder of Debra Byrd, was allowed to plead to second degree murder and receive probation in exchange for his testimony against Mr. Byrd.¹

But beyond the sweetheart deal, Sullivan was a known liar. The State contended at trial that Sullivan lied to police when he denied any knowledge of Ms. Byrd's murder when initially questioned on October 13, 1981. The State also contended that Sullivan lied in his sworn statement to law enforcement on October 27, 1981, when he denied any participation in the murder, and only reported an awareness that

¹As reflected in the Criminal Report Affidavit filed on October 28, 1981, the State's theory of the case at that time was that Mr. Byrd hired two "unknown subject(s)" who committed the murder (R1701). In the Grand Jury Summary dated November 4, 1981, the State's case was set forth. The State's theory was that "Sullivan (a principal) and Endress (the triggerman)" killed Debra Byrd at a time for which Mr. Byrd had an alibi (2PC-R467). However in Sullivan's testimony for which he received probation, he claimed that Mr. Byrd was present and forced him, Sullivan, to participate in the murder (R421, 425).

Mr. Byrd was looking for someone to kill his wife. According to the State, the only time that Sullivan was worthy of belief was when he was called as a witness at Mr. Byrd's trial in July of 1982, and when he was subsequently called as a witness at James Endress' trial in September of 1983.²

In between those two trials and certainly unknown to Mr. Byrd's jury, the State challenged Sullivan's truthfulness at Sullivan's probation revocation hearing in June of 1983. There the State contended that he was a liar who could not be believed. Sullivan faced probation revocation because he allegedly sold hashish to undercover police in January of 1983. When Sullivan took the stand at the probation hearing, the following exchange occurred during the prosecutor's crossexamination:

²Mr. Byrd's jury also did not learn that on December 17, 1981, Sullivan told one detective to tell another detective that "he could give us Wade [Byrd] and Endress really good." (Supp. 2PC-R515). Instead, the State told the jury "[t]he first time we knew of what happened here is April 19th, when Ronald Sullivan, after being given probation, promised probation for truthful testimony, came and gave us a statement implicating Mr. Byrd in this homicide." (R1206).

Q You are an admitted liar, are you not?

MR. CURY: Objection. Outrageous.

MR LOPEZ: I can prove that, Judge.

THE COURT: Overruled.

BY MR. LOPEZ:

Q Did you not admit to Frank Johnson that you lied to the Tampa Police Department during the pendency of your murder [sic]?

A I don't quite understand what you mean.

Q Let me direct your attention, sir, to October, 1981, when you were arrested by the Tampa Police Department for the charge of first-degree murder. Do you remember that?

A Yes, sir.

Q Did you give the police a statement that night?

A Yes, sir.

Q Was that statement a lie?

A Parts of it.

Q Okay. You are admitted liar, are you not?

A As far as you look at it, I guess I am.

(Def. Ex. 12 at 122-23; Supp. 2PC-R468-69). The prosecutor argued for revocation of Sullivan's probation, asserting that not only was Sullivan's testimony false, but that he had called family members to have them lie for him.³ "They do not want to see this young man go to prison." (Def. Ex. 12 at 128; Supp. 2PC-R473). The judge rejected the testimony of Sullivan and his family as untruthful and revoked his probation (Def. Ex. 12 at 139; Supp. 2PC-R484).

When he was called to testify at James Endress' trial in September of 1983, Sullivan admitted that he sold hash to undercover law enforcement officers on January 14, 1983. He admitted lying under oath at his revocation hearing. He explained that he lied because "I didn't want to receive a life sentence in prison." (2PC-R342). He also admitted that he refused to be deposed by Endress's counsel in August of 1983. He explained that "I figured the State would offer me a deal." The State did make an offer of a sentence reduction to 25 years. Sullivan rejected the offer "[b]ecause I figured they would offer me a better deal." When the State offered a maximum of 10 years, Sullivan finally agreed to testify against Endress (2PC-R342-43). Endress was convicted, but received a life sentence.

Until 2002, Endress, a convicted co-defendant, had refused to speak to any representative of Mr. Byrd (2PC-R1545). According to Endress, he was willing to meet in 2002

³According to the prosecutor, Sullivan had in fact suborned perjured testimony at the revocation hearing in order to avoid prison.

and discuss the case because "I've grown." (2PC-R1549).⁴ In his meeting with an investigator for Mr. Byrd, Endress reported that Sullivan had lied in his testimony. Endress reported that the investigator may have understood that Endress was maintaining his complete innocence of the murder (2PC-R1546). Accordingly, Mr. Byrd filed his 3.851 motion relying on Endress' representations. However when he took the stand, an entirely new version of the facts were related - a version that could be used to cast Endress in a favorable light before the parole board. In essence, Endress took Sullivan's version, but said that he, Endress, played the part that Sullivan ascribed to himself, *i.e.* present, but forced to participate.

⁴It turned out that besides the alleged "growth" Endress faced an approaching parole hearing. After his September 25, 2002, testimony at Mr. Byrd's evidentiary hearing, it was revealed that just prior to taking the witness stand, Endress engaged in negotiations with the State concerning his looming parole Endress had consulted with his lawyer who read Mr. hearing. Byrd's motion to vacate and advised Endress that "Byrd didn't have a chance in hell and this was my only opportunity to help myself." (2PC-R1800). Endress' lawyer suggested that they see if the State would help him at his upcoming parole hearing. Endress understood that the State had agreed that the worst it would do was "to take a neutral stance and do nothing to harm me." (2PC-R1802). Endress' attorney told him that this was his only chance to help himself, but Endress did not decide whether he would testify until right before he took the stand (2PC-R1803). After his testimony was completed in 2002, Endress wrote the State to firm up his understanding of the State's position (2PC-R1805). However, the State ultimately opposed his parole in July of 2004, and his parole was delayed for 20 years (2PC-R1811).

While testifying in 2002, Endress provided new information that was favorable to Mr. Byrd and that had not been disclosed by the State previously. Endress testified that he had been questioned in late 1982 about a string of robberies (2PC-R1569). However, he invoked his right to remain silent. He understood, however, that there was something "like 13 robberies" and that Sullivan was a suspect in this series of robberies (2PC-R1568-69). Endress understood that no charges were filed against Sullivan in these robberies in exchange for Sullivan's testimony (PC-R1569).

Before Endress's trial, Sullivan told him he needed a lawyer and wrote to Endress's father asking for help getting a lawyer (2PC-R1571). Sullivan told Endress he was not going to testify against Endress, but then the day the trial was to start, Sullivan and the State agreed to a ten-year sentence in exchange for Sullivan's testimony (2PC-R1571-72).

In 2002, Endress also testified that he learned in 2002 from his father that the State had offered him a 7-year prison sentence in exchange for his testimony against Byrd (2PC-R1573, 1575). He did not know about the offer when it was made, and it was rejected by his attorney and his father (2PC-R1573-74).

б

After Mr. Endress' testimony was finished in the 2002 proceeding, Mr. Byrd's counsel informed the court that the testimony "opened up a whole lot of stuff" and asked for the opportunity to look into these matters. The request was granted. Thereafter, the State disclosed its files on armed robberies that occurred shortly before the murder of Debra Byrd in which Endress and Sullivan were identified as the perpetrators.

The evidentiary hearing resumed on February 10, 2004, when Mr. Byrd introduced the robbery files into evidence.⁵ Mr. Byrd also called Willie Clarence Love to testify that in 1981, he was in the Hillsborough County jail, where he met Mr. Byrd, Mr. Endress and Mr. Sullivan (2PC-R1672-73). According to Love, Mr. Byrd did not tell Love anything about his case (2PC-

⁵Introduced as Def. Ex. 13 and Def. Ex. 14 were the State Attorney files on the two cases in which Endress and Sullivan had been identified. In Def. Ex. 13, Endress was positively identified by Mary Jane Taylor as the man who forced his way into her residence and stole \$180.00 worth of jewelry on October 5, 1981. Ms. Taylor indicated that after taking her jewelry the man grabbed her around the neck and demanded that she strip. She managed to push him away and onto the bed, then she ran out of her house. The assailant gave chase, but was scared away when a neighbor responded to Ms. Taylor's screams.

Def. Ex. 14 concerns the September 26, 1981, robbery of Benjamin Parry, a night manager of a motel blocks from the Econo Lodge where Debra Byrd was murdered on October 13, 1981, while she was functioning as the night manager. Mr. Parry had positively identified Sullivan as the man who robbed him at gunpoint.

R1673), while Sullivan told Love, "I killed the 'B'[itch] and I'm not going to get any time at all" (2PC-R1673).

Love also testified that he and Endress had a number of conversations (2PC-R1674). As a result of those conversations, Love contacted the State Attorney's Office. Love was deposed and reported what Mr. Endress had told him (2PC-R1675).⁶ After giving the deposition, Love was sent back into the prison system, where he again encountered Endress (2PC-R1676). Endress bragged that he had fed Love what he wanted Love to tell the prosecutors. Love testified that Endress "manipulated me and used me to say what he wanted me to say" (2PC-R1678). The prosecutor in 2002 asked if Endress ever said that his statements to Love were false (2PC-R1679-80). Love answered, "He never specifically said that, but he led me to believe that" (2PC-R1680).

At the beginning of the proceedings on February 10, 2004, the State disclosed that it had received a letter dated October 15, 2002, from Endress to his lawyer, Norm Canella, who forwarded the letter to the State (State Ex. 1; Supp2PC-R122). In this letter, Endress expressed his expectation and desire to receive benefit from the State for the

⁶In his 1983 deposition Love had testified that Endress had told him that Mr. Byrd had been trying to find someone to murder his wife for \$10,000 (Supp2PC-R162).

testimony that he had provided on September 25, 2002 (Supp2PC-R1668-70).

The information that has cascaded forth as a result of Endress' decision in 2002 to speak for the first time to Mr. Byrd's counsel when considered cumulatively with the evidence presented in prior collateral proceedings demonstrates that Mr. Byrd's conviction and sentence of death violate the due process principles embodied in <u>Bradshaw v. Stumpf</u>, 545 U.S. 175 (2005); <u>Giglio v. United States</u>, 405 U.S. 150 (1972); and <u>Brady</u> v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

It is certainly clear from the vantage point that this Court has today that Sullivan and Endress have had much to gain from the testimony that they have provided in the course of Mr. Byrd's case. Perhaps it does not take detailed study of Arthur Miller's play, *The Crucible*, to know that only the most principled will refuse to give false witness in order to save their lives and/or their freedom. And here, it is undeniable that in 1983 Sullivan perjured himself and suborned perjured testimony in an effort to keep his probation from being revoked and himself out of prison. But unfortunately, Mr. Byrd's jury was misled and deprived of the critical information necessary to a valid analysis of Sullivan's credibility.

In a case like Mr. Byrd's, where there is a dearth of physical evidence as to what happened and more precisely who did what, resolutions of questions of guilt and punishment comes to rest on the reliability of the unreliable. It is like building a house on a Saharan sand dune. It is either buried or toppled when wind blows and moves the sand. In light of its inherent unreliability, Mr. Byrd's death sentence is inconsistent with the principles embodied in the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Debra Faye Byrd, the wife of Milford Wade Byrd, was killed in the early morning hours of October 13, 1981, in the office of the Econo Travel Motor Lodge at 11414 N. Central in Tampa, Florida. Mr. Byrd and his wife managed the motel. Ms. Byrd was last seen alive by a motel patron at about 1:00 AM on October 13th (R275). A pathologist who examined the body the morning of the 13th estimated the time of death to have occurred between 9:00 PM and 3:00 AM (R767).

At the time, the police were aware of other recent nearby crimes. On September 26, 1981, at 5:45 a.m., a night auditor, Benjamin Parry, was robbed at gunpoint at a nearby Ramada Inn at 802 E. Busch Blvd. On October 5, 1981, at 9:30 p.m., Mary Jane Taylor was robbed by a man armed with a

knife who forced his way into her home at 805 E. 109th Ave. and stole \$180.00 worth of jewelry (Def. Ex. 13; Supp2PC-R492). After Ronald Sullivan⁷ and his friend James Endress became suspects in these three and other crimes, Mr. Parry positively identified Sullivan as the man who robbed him at gunpoint on September 26th (Def. Ex. 14; Supp2PC-R499).⁸ Ms. Taylor identified Endress as the man who robbed her at knife point on October 5th (Def. Ex. 13; Supp2PC-R496).⁹

Starting in the middle of September of 1981, Sullivan and Endress had lived at the Econo Travel Motor Lodge

⁷Ultimately, in exchange for his testimony against Mr. Byrd, Sullivan was permitted to plead to second degree murder and receive probation.

⁸After James Endress testified in September of 2002 that he and Sullivan were being investigated in 13 robberies in October of 1981(Supp2PC-R1566,1570), the State provided its files regarding the criminal proceedings concerning the September 26th and October 5th armed robberies. These files were later introduced into evidence (Def. Ex. 13, 14; Supp2PC-R487-500).

The file concerning the September 26th robbery at the Ramada Inn included a document summarizing the State Attorney Investigation into the case. This document was dated November 9, 1981, and indicated that Mr. Parry had positively identified a photo of Sullivan as the man who robbed him. However, no date was given for when the identification was made (Supp2PC-R499).

⁹Ms. Taylor indicated that after taking her jewelry the man grabbed her around the neck and demanded that she strip. She pushed him away and onto the bed and ran out of her house. The intruder gave chase, but was scared away when a neighbor responded to Ms. Taylor's screams. When shown a photopak on October 30, 1981, containing a picture of James Endress, Ms. Taylor picked him out as her assailant (Supp2PC-R496). that was managed by the Byrd's (R385).¹⁰ On October 27, 1981, Sullivan was arrested for a parole violation. During questioning the police brought up the murder of Debra Byrd and accused Sullivan of being involved (R434). In a sworn statement, Sullivan said that he knew that Mr. Byrd had been seeking someone to murder his wife, although Sullivan specifically and pointedly denied his own involvement in the murder (R436).¹¹

Based upon Sullivan's statement, Mr. Byrd was arrested at 2:30 AM on October 28th without a warrant along with a woman, Jody Clymer, who was with him in his residence. The police kept Ms. Clymer at the police station while officers tried to talk to Mr. Byrd. The police made sure that Mr. Byrd knew that Ms. Clymer was being detained. The police provided Mr. Byrd with <u>Miranda</u> warnings, and he signed written acknowledgment. However, Mr. Byrd would not speak. For two and

¹⁰When questioned on the morning of October 13th, Sullivan said he had not heard anything and knew nothing (R434).

¹¹The only statements to law enforcement that Mr. Byrd's jury were told had been given by Sullivan were his October 13th and October 27th statements. The State argued since it did not know what Sullivan would say really happened when it agreed in April of 1982 to give him probation in exchange for his testimony, his admission to be present for and participating in the murder with Mr. Byrd was more credible: "My point being, I don't think he has got any motive to come in here and purposely try to put somebody in prison or the electric chair. He would have been given probation either way." (R1207)

one half hours, Mr. Byrd maintained his silence while the police tried in vain to prompt a response. At 4:40 AM, Mr. Byrd asked to speak with Ms. Clymer (R687). His interrogators told him "that was not allowed" (R684). Mr. Byrd said he would talk if they let him speak to her. A police officer then went to Ms. Clymer with tears in his eyes and told her that Mr. Byrd's "guilt was eating him up" (R717). After shedding tears while talking with Ms. Clymer for five minutes, the police officer sent her into the interrogation room to be alone with Mr. Byrd (R687, 720). Six minutes later, Ms. Clymer was taken out of the interrogation room (R687). At that time, Mr. Byrd gave a statement implicating himself in the murder in order to insure Ms. Clymer's release from custody.

Mr. Byrd, along with Sullivan and Endress, were indicted for first degree murder on November 12, 1981 (R1702). The State's theory before the grand jury was that Mr. Byrd had hired Sullivan and Endress to kill his wife and that while Mr. Byrd was at a bottle club, Sullivan and Endress actually murdered Debra Byrd.

However by the time of the indictment, the police had located one of Endress's friends, Debra Williams.¹² She told

¹²Debra Williams gave the police a statement on November 6, 1981, in which she indicated that Endress had told her before his arrest that he and Sullivan beat and robbed Debra Byrd. Endress

the State that subsequent to the homicide but before Endress's arrest, he had advised her that he and Sullivan had robbed and beat Debra Byrd after which she was killed. Endress had not indicated to Ms. Williams that Mr. Byrd was involved in the robbery or the murder of Ms. Byrd.¹³

On January 6, 1982, the State filed its Notice of Discovery (R1728). In this notice, the State said, "Codefendant Sullivan made statements to: Det. R.J. Reynolds." (R1729). The fifty-one page statement Sullivan made to Det. Reynolds occurred on October 28, 1981 (R2069). Besides it and the brief October 13th interview, the State gave no notice of any other statements by Sullivan.¹⁴

indicated that he beat Ms. Byrd with numchucks which he left at Ms. Williams' trailer and which Ms. Williams turned over to the police. Endress also indicated that he and Sullivan were armed with a .38 equipped with a silencer. On November 12, 1981, Ms. Williams appeared before the grand jury and testified that Endress indicated that Sullivan was the person with him when they beat and robbed Ms. Byrd. Ms. Williams was called by the State at Endress's trial on September 22, 1983, and again testified to these admissions Endress made to her, i.e. that he and Sullivan had beaten and robbed Debra Byrd before Sullivan killed her. (Def. Ex. 15; Supp2PC-R. 506).

¹³Neither Endress nor Ms. Williams testified at Mr. Byrd's trial, so his jury was unaware of Endress' statements to her.

¹⁴In fact, a police report indicated that on December 17, 1981, Sullivan had advised a police officer if he was given a deal he could give the State Mr. Byrd and Endress "really good" (Supp2PC-R515). On January 7, 1982, the Florida Parole Commission held a preliminary hearing on whether Sullivan violated his parole on a 1978 burglary conviction by robbing Benjamin Parry on September 26, 1981. Sullivan called Endress as an alibi witness. After answering some questions, Endress declined to answer further questions on the advice of counsel. Sullivan called his girlfriend, Regina Schiemelfining, to testify that they had spent the night of September 25, 1981, together at Endress's house.

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