IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MILFORD WADE BYRD,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC06-539 L.T. No. 81-CF-010517

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0802743
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I—-Appellant's claim that the State violated Byrd's due process rights by taking inconsistent positions in his trial and Sullivan's subsequent probation revocation hearing on an unrelated charge is procedurally barred. This claim was not made below and was not addressed by the trial court.

ISSUE II—Appellant failed to present any favorable, undisclosed evidence during the hearing below to support his Brady and/or Giglio claims. Nor, did appellant present any competent evidence to suggest, much less establish that his counsel's performance was constitutionally deficient.

ISSUE III—The evidence introduced below clearly refutes appellant's claim that the prosecutor wrote the sentencing order or that improper communication occurred between the prosecutor and trial judge.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER BYRD WAS DEPRIVED OF DUE PROCESS UNDER THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION WHEN THE PROSECUTION PRESENTED THE TESTIMONY OF CODEFENDANT SULLIVAN AGAINST BYRD AND THEN ARGUED LESS THAN A YEAR LATER IN SULLIVAN'S PROBATION REVOCATION PROCEEDING FOR AN UNRELATED CHARGE THAT SULLIVAN WAS NOT CREDIBLE? (STATED BY APPELLEE)

State committed a Due Byrd argues that the Process violation by relying upon Sullivan's testimony to commit Byrd and then one year later, prosecuting Sullivan for violating his probation and in the process, attacking Sullivan's credibility. However, this claim was never made to the trial court below, in either Byrd's Successive Motion for Post-Conviction Relief, or, his Amended, Successive Motion for Post-Conviction relief. (V2, 324-348). Consequently, there is no ruling from the court below to review on appeal. Since the claim was not presented to the trial court below, he is procedurally barred from raising the Green v. State, 2008 Fla. LEXIS 137 (Fla. January claim here. 31, 2008)("This claim is procedurally barred because it was neither raised in Green's 3.851 motion nor addressed by the trial court.").

Byrd attempts to excuse his procedural default by arguing that his claim is based upon <u>Bradshaw v. Stumpf</u>, 545 U.S. 175 (2005) which was released after the evidentiary hearing in this

case, but, before the court had issued its final order. (Appellant's Brief at 64). Appellant's position lacks any merit because Stumpf did not articulate a new rule of law relevant to any issue in this case. Indeed, the Court in Stumpf concluded that it was premature to rule on a due process claim relating to sentencing on the prosecutions taking inconsistent positions with regard to Stumpf and his codefendant. In his concurring opinion, Justice Thomas observed "[t]his Court has never hinted, much less held, that the Due Process Clause prevents a State from prosecuting defendants based upon inconsistent theories."

Stumpf, 545 U.S. at 190 (Thomas, concurring). Stumpf did not announce a new rule of law which would excuse his failure to raise this issue in a timely fashion.

In addition to failing to raise the issue in the trial court, had Byrd raised the issue, it would have been untimely. See Blanco v. State, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 1997)(To qualify as newly discovered evidence, the asserted facts must have been unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that defendant or his counsel could not have known them by the use of diligence [and] to prompt a new trial, "the newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial.")(citations omitted). The underlying factual basis for

Byrd's claim, tenuous though it may be, is that the State took inconsistent positions in two different court proceedings with regard to Sullivan's credibility. Byrd was aware of, or, had access to Sullivan's probation revocation in time to litigate a related issue in his 1988 post-conviction proceeding. Consequently, it cannot be considered newly discovered evidence. His belated attempt to litigate the issue in a successive motion for post-conviction relief should not be countenanced.

Finally, aside from being procedurally barred from review, Byrd's claim lacks any merit. The State never took an inconsistent position with regard to Byrd's role in the murder of his wife. He was the instigator of the victim's death and directly participated in her murder. Byrd argues, without any precedent to support him, that since the State relied upon Sullivan's testimony, at least in part to convict Byrd [along with other evidence, including Byrd's confession], that the

⁴ Byrd claimed that the State had some undisclosed agreement to assist Sullivan in his parole revocation proceeding. The trial court disposed of this claim below, stating, in part: "This Court is also convinced that at the time of the Defendant's trial the State of Florida had no agreement to assist Mr. Sullivan with regard to his parole violation status and that the decision to send a letter on his behalf came only after the trial of the Defendant when Mr. Sullivan's attorney requested such a letter. (E.H.T., V.I, pp. 98-100 and 118) Moreover, any effort on the part of the State of Florida to assist Mr. Sullivan as to his parole status occurred after the Defendant's trial and prior to co-defendant Endress' trial as part of a plea negotiation for Sullivan's testimony against this co-defendant. (E.H.T., V.I, Pg. 144)." (PCR-V2, 348).

State somehow committed a due process violation when it subsequently sought to revoke Sullivan's probation based upon his commission of an unrelated drug offense. In the process of revoking his probation, the prosecution, unremarkably, attacked the credibility of Sullivan. However, the prosecutor never argued that Sullivan lied when he testified against Byrd and described Byrd's leading role in the murder. Thus, Byrd has never shown that the State took an inconsistent position with respect to the content or veracity of his testimony in the instant case regarding the victim's murder.

The Supreme Court in Stumpf did not even recognize a due process violation where the State takes inconsistent positions in the co-defendant's trials. Consequently, his attempt to extend Stumpf to this situation, that once a co-defendant testifies, the State cannot, in an unrelated criminal proceeding, argue that the testifying co-defendant is less than credible. If Byrd's rather absurd argument is accepted, once a co-defendant testifies, the State cannot prosecute that individual for any subsequent offenses without jeopardizing a co-defendant's conviction.

In sum, Byrd has not established the State took an inconsistent position with respect to his role in his wife's murder. Nor, did the State attack Sullivan's veracity with

regard to Byrd's role in his wife's murder in any subsequent legal proceeding. Consequently, even if this issue was not procedurally barred, it is nonetheless, patently without merit.

ISSUE II

WHETHER BYRD WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL BECAUSE EITHER THE STATE FAILED TO DISCLOSE EVIDENCE WHICH WAS MATERIAL AND EXCULPATORY IN NATURE AND/OR PRESENTED MISLEADING EVIDENCE AND/OR DEFENSE COUNSEL UNREASONABLY FAILED TO DISCOVER AND PRESENT EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE? (STATED BY APPELLEE)

Perhaps recognizing the paltry evidence he was able to produce during the evidentiary hearings to support his newly discovered evidence claim in his successive motion for postconviction relief, Byrd initially attempts to relitigate his previous Brady, Giglio, and Ineffective Assistance of counsel Indeed, the majority of his argument under Claim II raised in his addresses claims initial motion for conviction relief. Counsel apparently attempts to obfuscate the thin basis for his present claims by failing to clearly delineate those claims litigated in the present successive motion from those previously made and rejected in his first motion for post-conviction relief. The trial court rejected his attempt to relitigate claims previously raised and rejected regarding Sullivan's credibility, stating, in part:

In ground 1 A, Defendant claims that the State failed to disclose the existence of a December 17, 1981 police report which shows that Sullivan had told police officers that he could help them get Defendant and Endress "really good." Defendant claims that, despite this police report, Mr. Sullivan testified at his trial that he had not given a statement regarding this case until April 19, 1982. Defendant further

alleges that the State allowed Defendant to testify that he had not spoken to police officers until April 19, 1982, and that the State used this fact to bolster Mr. Sullivan's testimony even though they knew it was false.

However, Defendant previously alleged in his 1988 Motion that the State withheld exculpatory evidence. The 1988 claims included an allegation that the State withheld the December 17, 1981 police report. (See Supplement to Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence, pages 36-37, attached). The Court denied this claim because the prosecutors did not know about the report and the State had given the defense everything in its The Court further found that even possession. Defendant had access to this report during trial, the Defendant failed to show that there was a reasonable probability that the utilization of its contents would have produced a different result. (See Order Denying Defendant's Motion for Post Conviction Relief, attached). The Supreme Court of Florida affirmed the denial of Defendant's Motion on February 20, (See Mandate, attached). Since this claim was raised and addressed in a previous motion for post conviction this issue cannot be litigated in a second relief, 3.850 motion. Marek v. Singletary, 626 So. 2d 160, 162 (Fla. 1993).

Moreover, any claim that the State used the fact that Sullivan had not given a statement regarding the April 19, 1982 to bolster until Sullivan's credibility should also be denied as successive. Defendant previously raised this allegation in his Motion for Post Conviction Relief. Supplement to Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence, page 10-11, attached). The Court denied this claim allegation anv regarding prosecutorial argument could have been raised direct appeal. (See Order, page2). The Supreme Court Florida affirmed on February 20, 1992. Mandate, attached). Since this claim was raised and addressed in a previous motion for post conviction relief, this issue cannot be litigated in a second 3.850 motion. Marek, 626 So. 2d at 162. As such, no relief is warranted on ground 1A.

(V6, 825-26).

Byrd does not even acknowledge, much less attempt to overcome the clear procedural bar found by the trial court below. His allegations were without merit when they were litigated in his first motion for post-conviction relief. The claims do not gain strength from repetition. Jennings v. State, 782 So. 2d 853, 858 (Fla. 2001)(affirming denial of Brady claim in a successive motion as procedurally barred where the claim was previously raised and rejected in defendant's previous 3.850 motion)(citing Mills v. State, 684 So. 2d 801, 805 (Fla.

⁵ It is unclear why Byrd realleges his previously rejected claims regarding the prosecutor receiving money from his brother-in-law for a civil case referral. This Court explicitly affirmed rejection of this issue on appeal from the denial of his first motion for post-conviction relief, a fact that Byrd conveniently omits from his mention of the issue. This Court stated:

We find that the circuit judge took particular care in setting forth his findings after noting that considered (1) the evidence and testimony introduced the defendant's trial, (2) the evidence testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing, and (3) the law submitted to the court by counsel. After a careful review of the record in this case, we find that the findings and holdings of the trial judge are clearly supported by the record. We specifically agree that the record supports the trial court's conclusion that the assistant state attorney had no knowledge that he was going to receive a referral fee from his brother-in-law. Further, we find that the record supports the trial court's finding that there was no nondisclosure of information known by the prosecution at trial.

1996)(finding Brady claim procedurally barred where defendant raised same claim in previous rule 3.850 motion).

Brady or Giglio Claims Based Upon Uncharged Robberies

After referring to Sullivan's probation revocation hearing testimony and other information known to collateral counsel prior to Byrd's initial motion for post-conviction relief, Byrd finally mentions the claim upon which his successive motion was largely based, that Endress, who was previously unavailable to testify, indicated that Sullivan lied. (Appellant's Brief at 81). However, he omits the rather significant point, that when Endress testified during the post-conviction hearing, entirely supported Sullivan's testimony with regard to Byrd's role in the murder. Endress testified that it was indeed Byrd who hatched the plan to kill his wife and was the primary actor in achieving her death. (V11, 1551-53). Moreover, Endress's testimony potentially implicated some questionable and potentially embarrassing conduct on the part of the CCRC investigator in this case. 6

⁶ Endress essentially testified that the investigator put words in his mouth and attempted to have him sign an affidavit. (V11, 1577). Investigator Walsh was asked to relay an offer to Byrd to help him, in exchange for Byrd's agreement to exonerate Endress. Walsh returned a few days later to inform Endress that Byrd agreed to the deal. While Walsh denied attempting to broker a deal, his explanation for returning to see Endress in prison a few days after the initial meeting was highly suspect:

Rather than focus on what Endress testified to regarding Byrd's role in the murder, collateral counsel focuses almost entirely on Endress's unsupported responses to leading questions, wherein he stated it would not surprise him if Sullivan had been suspected of, or had even committed some 13 robberies. (Appellant's Brief at 81-82). The problem for the appellant is that he presented no credible evidence to establish that Sullivan received "more consideration than he testified to." (Appellant's Brief at 82).

"To establish a <u>Brady</u> violation, a defendant must show [the following]: 1) evidence favorable to the accused, because it is either exculpatory or impeaching; 2) that the evidence was suppressed by the State, either willfully or inadvertently; and 3) that prejudice ensued." <u>Guzman v. State</u>, 868 So. 2d 498, 508 (Fla. 2003)(citing <u>Jennings v. State</u>, 782 So. 2d 853, 856 (Fla. 2001)). "The test for prejudice or materiality under <u>Brady</u> is whether, had the evidence been disclosed, there is a reasonable

[&]quot;I mean, he was pretty curious. He wanted to know." (V11, 1597).

⁷ Appellant did not make this claim in his initial successive motion, he simply morphed cross-examination of Endress to support a new claim once it was clear that his initial claim based upon newly discovered evidence and Endress, fell completely apart in a rather drastic manner. Endress, far from casting doubt upon Sullivan's testimony, actually corroborates Sullivan's testimony with regard to Byrd's leading role in his wife's murder.

probability of a different result, expressed as a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the proceedings." Id. (citing Cardona v. State, 826 So. 2d 968, 973 (Fla. 2002). The determination that suppressed evidence was not material under Brady is subject to *de novo* review on appeal.

"In reviewing a trial court's application of the above law to a rule 3.850 motion following an evidentiary hearing, this Court applies the following standard of review: As long as the trial court's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence, 'this Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of the witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court.' 695 So. 2d at 1251 (footnotes omitted)(quoting Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911, 915, 916 (Fla. 1991), and Demps v. State, 462 So. 2d 1074, 1075 (Fla. 1984)).

<u>Melendez</u>, 718 So. 2d at 747-48 (quoting <u>Blanco v. State</u>, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1251 (Fla. 1997)) (emphasis added).

<u>Swafford v. State</u>, 828 So. 2d 966, 977-978 (Fla. 2002). With these principles in mind, it is clear that the trial court properly denied appellant's claim below.

In rejecting this claim, the trial court stated, in part:

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